IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY MICHAEL WICKHAM,

Appellant,

v. :: CASE NO. SC05-1012

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Frederick T. Davis Debevoise & Plimpton LLP 919 Third Ave New York, NY 10022 (212) 909-6000

Martin J. McClain McClain & McDermott 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, Florida 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Trial

After three other counsel resigned because they were unable to get Wickham to cooperate with them, Philip Padovano, a private lawyer paid for by the State, took over Wickham's representation. He represented Wickham in his criminal trial before the Honorable Charles McClure in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit in Florida from November 28 through December 8, 1988.

At trial, Padovano argued that Wickham was not guilty by reason of insanity, and presented the testimony of Dr. Joyce Carbonell. Dr. Carbonell testified about Wickham's history of psychological problems, including periods of commitment to psychiatric hospitals during his youth. Her testimony established that Wickham, born in 1945, lived at home for ten years, during which he was beaten by his alcoholic mother and father. (R 1490-91.) In 1957, a Michigan court ordered Wickham committed to a psychiatric hospital because he was a childhood schizophrenic with convuls ive tendencies. (R 1493, PC-R 364.)

Available evidence not presented at trial shows that Wickham spent twelve years in Northville State Hospital ("Northville") and Ionia State Hospital ("Ionia"). (PC-R 364.) At certain points during his hospitalization, he was given tranquilizing drugs or Thorazine, and was ultimately placed in a closed children's ward. (PC-R 375-76, 386.) While he was in Northville, Wickham was diagnosed as a schizophrenic, and over time it was determined that he had a "poor prognosis." (PC-R 392.) In 1964, Wickham was transferred to Ionia, (PC-R 392).

In 1966, Wickham was readmitted to Northville, and put in a closed ward, his prognosis gauged at fair to poor. (PC-R 393.) On February 14, 1968, Wickham was discharged from Northville. (PC-R 364.) There is no indication as to why he was discharged.

The State presented evidence that in September of 1968, Wickham kidnapped a cab driver, shot him three times, and robbed him. (R 1928-31.) Wickham was caught, and in 1969 pleaded guilty to armed robbery, resulting in 14 years of imprisonment.

The State also presented evidence that on April 19, 1983, Wickham stole a car in Colorado, and led the police on a high-speed chase, during which he collided multiple times with a police car and a truck. (R 1950-56.) Wickham was convicted of first-degree aggravated motor vehicle theft and sentenced to prison. (R 1963-64.) He was paroled on April 9, 1985. In August of that year a warrant was issued for his arrest after he violated the terms of his parole. (PC-R 1964.)

At the conclusion of his capital trial, in December 7, 1988, Wickham was convicted of first-degree murder and armed robbery.

B. Sentencing

The day after the verdict, the Court proceeded to a brief penalty phase. After the closing statements, the judge instructed the jury to weigh the aggravating and the mitigating factors and to render an advisory sentence. By a vote of 11 to 1, the jury recommended that Wickham receive the death sentence. Padovano waived the statutory requirement for written sentencing findings, and the Court sentenced Wickham immediately to death without identifying aggravating or mitigating factors. (PC-R 2045, 2047.) On December 19, 1988, the Court adopted the State's memorandum as its

sentencing order. The order listed six aggravating factors, including that (i) Wickham committed the felony "for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest," (ii) in a "cold, calculated and premeditated manner," and (iii) the felony was "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." (R 248-49.) The Court found no mitigating factors. (R 252.)

C. Direct Appeal

A divided Florida Supreme Court affirmed. As part of its December 12, 1991 ruling, the Florida Supreme Court ruled that the trial court erred in finding that the murder was "heinous, atrocious, or cruel." *Wickham v. State*, 593 So. 2d 191, 193 (Fla. 1991). Additionally, the Florida Supreme Court ruled that the trial court erred in failing to find and weigh any mitigating circumstances. Ultimately, however, the Court found the error "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 194.

D. State Post-Conviction Proceedings

On May 19, 1995, Wickham filed a motion pursuant to Rule 3.850 for post-conviction relief with the Florida Circuit Court, which included a claim that the State had not provided Wickham with crucial public records. On December 18, 1995, Judge J. Lewis Hall, Jr. ordered the State to produce all records from Wickham's pretrial detention and granted Wickham 90 days from the State's compliance to amend and refile his motion. The State produced copies of some documents only on May 16, 2001. At the May 21, 2001 status hearing the Circuit Court granted Wickham permission to move for a public record hearing. On October 4, 2001, the Circuit Court held an evidentiary hearing on the missing records issue. On August 1, 2002, the Circuit court denied Wickham's motion for retrial on this issue, and later denied Wickham's motion to reconsider.

Also on May 19, 1995, Wickham filed a motion to disqualify Judge McClure and all other Second Judicial Circuit judges from presiding over his post-conviction relief motion on grounds that Padovano had since been elected to the position of Chief Judge of the Second Circuit. Wickham requested that his post-conviction relief motion be heard by a de facto circuit judge appointed by the Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court.

Two members of the Second Judicial Circuit subsequently recused themselves from Wickham's case: Judge Janet E. Ferris, Judge Padovano's wife, and Senior Circuit Judge J. Lewis Hall, Jr. On October 2, 2001, Judge Charles A. Francis, the Second Judicial Circuit judge who was then presiding over the case, dismissed Wickham's May 19, 1995 motion for disqualification of judges of the Second Judicial Circuit, as well as filed a motion for rehearing. The case was eventually assigned to the Honorable Kathleen Dekker.

On November 17, 2003, Judge Dekker held a hearing pursuant to *Huff v. State of Florida*, 622 So. 2d 982 (1993), to determine which of the 21 claims from Wic kham's post-conviction relief motion merited an evidentiary hearing. In an order dated January 30, 2004, Judge Dekker granted an evidentiary hearing with respect to claims 6 (ineffective assistance of counsel ("IAC")), 8 (newly discovered evidence), and 10 (improper arguments by the prosecutor), summarily denied in part and granted an evidentiary hearing in part with respect to claims 2 (incompetence to stand trial and related due process and IAC claims), 7 (some IAC claims), 9 (State's failure to turn over exculpatory information), and 21 (additional IAC claims), and summarily denied the remaining claims, including Wickham's request to disqualify all judges in the Second Judicial Circuit.

Between June 2 and June 7, 2004, Judge Dekker held four days of hearings on claims 6, 8, and 10 of Wickham's post-conviction relief motion.

Padovano's Testimony. During the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, Judge Dekker heard testimony from Wickham's trial counsel, Padovano. Padovano acknowledged that after being appointed by Judge McClure to be Wickham's defense counsel on or about April 21, 1988, he announced his candidacy for Circuit Court judge on July 22, 1988. (PC-R 3325). He confirmed that he recorded 187 hours of working on the case on his time sheets (PC-R 3325), including approximately 100 hours preparing for Wickham's trial (PC-R 3319), and 87 hours during trial (PC-R 4398). As Padovano's record show, in April 1988 he spent 5.2 hours on the case, in May he worked for 18.1 hours, in June 3.7 hours, in July 3.6 hours, in August 2 hours, and in September 0.3 hours. (PC-R 3329-30; R 242-44.) Padovano stated that part of the reason for the distinct decrease in the amount of time he spent on Wickham's case was due to the fact that he was running for election. (PC-R 3330.)

Padovano acknowledged that he reviewed a mental health family background mitigation defense checklist that included principal witnesses in the case, but that he only spoke to one of them. (PC-R 3346.) He acknowledged that he did not interview principal witnesses in his case, and relied on his investigators (PC-R 3352), who, in turn, spent a total equal to three work days on the case (PC-R 3354), conducting interviews of witnesses exclusively by phone. (PC-R 3361.)

Padovano stated that although he knew that Wickham was diagnosed as a childhood schizophrenic, had a low intelligence quotient, and very possibly had some form of an

organic brain dysfunction (PC-R 3367), he did not reach out to a psychiatrist, neuropsychiatrist, or child development expert (PC-R 3360).

The defense also presented, the following expert testimony, testimony from several qualified experts:

Dr. William Riebsame testified that Wickham had a "neuropsychological impairment" (PC-R 3599) with "severe impairment in terms of difficulty with planning, foresight, impulsivity." (PC-R 3596.)

Dr. Wilfred Van Gorp testified that Wickham was impaired in the front left temporal lobe of his brain (PC-R 3672, 3676, 3690-91), and that this impairment affected Wickham's ability to deliberate and anticipate consequences, especially when the effects of the illnesses were enhanced by alcohol (PC-R 3689-90, 3694-95): "[t]he frontal lobes organize the world for us. We organize things we see and encode them. That is how we make things meaningful in our minds. [Wickham] is not doing that." (PC-R 3678.) He further testified that the pre-trial psychological testing was inadequate to determine the extent of Wickham's brain damage. (PC-R 3766-67.) As to Wickham's competency, Van Gorp concluded that "there were enough red flags that [a competency hearing] definitely should have been put in motion to see what the outcome would have been." (PC-R 3704.)

Dr. Mark J. Mills testified that Wickham has an organic encephalopathy of unknown ideology, whereby Wickham's frontal lobes are "seriously malfunctioning" (PC-R 3735), with evidence of diffuse cortical dysfunction, a history of temporal lobe epilepsy that was not adequately documented nor adequately evaluated, and a history of significant substance abuse, including years of treatment with anti-convulsive medication (PC-R

3735, 3742). In terms of Wickham's temporal lobe epilepsy, Mills testified that Wickham would have "absence attacks" that lasted from a couple of seconds to a couple of minutes, and these could lead to acting in a way "that is pointless and seems totally internally preoccupied, autistic." (PC-R 3743.) Mills found that "in the aggregate there [were] lots and lots of reasons to question [Wickham's] competency at the time." (PC-R 3756.)

Several family members – none of whom had been interviewed by Padovano prior to trial – also testified.

Sylvia Mae Roberts (formerly Wickham), Wickham's former wife, testified that she had not been approached regarding Wickham's mental state around the time of the trial even though she would have told Padovano about Wickham's substance abuse and his occasional going off by himself and inability to recognize her, which happened two to three times a week. (PC-R 3941-47.)

Alice Wickham Bird, Wickham's older sister, testified about Wickham's horrible abuse throughout his childhood. She described Wickham's father, a chronic alc oholic, as sexually abusive towards his children. (PC-R 3964.) Wickham's father used to hit Wickham "with anything he could pic k up; a board, a rock, his belt, the belt buckle, anything he could reach." (PC-R 3964.) She testified that Wickham's stepfather's family would also hit Wickham "every time they got a chance." (PC-R 3965.) Bird testified about Wickham's institutionalization at the age of ten in Northville, an institution that was eventually shut down for its cruelty, and that Wickham often appeared during visitation "all black and blue and in a straitjacket." (PC-R 3968.)

Marguerite Ann Lavalley, Wickham's older sister, testified that Wickham's mother also contributed to his tormented childhood. Lavalley cited one instance when his mother "hit him in the back of the head with a hammer." (PC-R 3997.) Regarding Jerry's time in psychiatric care, Lavalley testified that when he wasn't "spaced out and all spelled up from the medications," Wickham would behave "like a ten-year-old child." (PC-R 3999-4000.) Lavalley testified that she was never contacted by any of Wickham's attorneys prior to the trial. When she met Padovano for the first time in court, "he didn't give . . . time to say anything." (PC-R 4002.)

Gary Edway Welch, Wickham's second cousin, testified that in mapping the family genealogy, he discovered several incidents of epilepsy from speaking to family members. (PC-R 4013.) He also testified that not only had he never spoken to any investigators on Wickham's defense team, but that he had "never heard of" Padovano. (PC-R 4014.)

Donald Edway Welch, Wickham's first cousin, testified that he personally witnessed Wickham endure physical abuse from his mother and step-father. (PC-R 4017.) Welch testified that he was never contacted by Wickham's attorney. (PC-R 4016.)

Based on Wickham's behavior at the hearing and on expert testimony, the State asked for a competency hearing, which the Court denied. (*See* PC-R 3623-24, 3795-98.)

On January 13, 2005, Judge Dekker issued a written decision denying all counts of Wickham's post-conviction relief motion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The claims presented in this appeal are constitutional issues involving mixed questions of law and fact and are reviewed *de novo*, giving deference only to the trial

court's findings of fact. *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999); *State v. Glatzmayer*, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

During his trial, Wickham had the benefit of a talented and qualified trial lawyer – Philip J. Padovano, now a Judge on the First Circuit Court of Appeal. However, Wickham did not receive a fair trial. Because his counsel was campaigning for, and then elected to, the position of a Circuit Court judge, counsel's attention and efforts were elsewhere prior and during Wickham's trial. Padovano's lack of attention and preparation caused him to spend far less than the bare minimum amount of time on the case. He never interviewed any of the fact or mitigation witnesses. He engaged only one psychologist with no medical training or expertise, where there was an obvious need for medical experts. Until a week before trial, when the State deposed the defense's psychologist, Dr. Carbonell, Padovano met with her only a couple of times, briefly, in his office parking lot. Despite numerous signs that Wickham was not competent to stand trial, Padovano never requested a competency hearing.

Counsel's lack of preparation had devastating effects: First and foremost, no competency hearing was held despite numerous warning signs. At trial, the judge and jury had only a cursory understanding of Wickham's circumstances – they heard that he was mentally ill and possibly brain-damaged, but were not given the tools to appreciate the history of mental illness for which Wickham was committed to a mental institution from the time he was 10 until he was 20 years old. They were never given the tools to appreciate the implications and severity of Wickham's brain damage, and never learned he was epileptic. They never learned Wickham was sexually abused by his father, who

abused both him and his sisters. Ultimately, trial counsel's ineffective representation allowed the State to portray a deeply disturbed, brain damaged, epileptic individual, as a casual and calculated murderer undeserving of even a sliver of compassion. Padovano also did not object to clear errors in the jury charge, which caused the judge and jury to consider aggravators that were incorrect and unconstitutionally vague.

In addition, the State put tremendous pressure on Wickham's co-defendants and cellmates to come up with testimony that would seal Wickham's death sentence. At trial, Wickham faced false testimony that portrayed him as the mastermind of an attempt to escape prison, and as having planned all along to eliminate the witness to the robbery. Wickham's trial counsel intuited some of these falsities, but did little to counteract them at trial, and many of them went undetected until those witnesses confessed, in affidavits and testimony at the 3.850 hearing, that their trial testimony was false or misleading. Because of his grievous mental condition, Wickham, who "decompensated" during trial, was unable to assist his attorney in detecting and responding to the false testimonies lodged against him.

Due to the ineffectiveness of his counsel, to Wickham's incompetence and inability to participate in his own defense, to the State's willingness to elicit false testimony from codefendants and cellmates and to withhold exculpatory evidence from the defense, Wickham did not get a fair trial. His conviction and sentence should be vacated and he should get a new trial, preceded by a competency hearing. At the very least his death sentence should be vacated and he should be re-sentenced based on the correct and full mitigating and aggravating circumstances.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF WICKHAM'S MOTIONS TO DISQUALIFY CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR

Wickham's post-conviction motion demonstrated (a) that his trial counsel, (now Judge) Padovano, was ineffective; and (b) that the prosecutor, (now Judge) Hankinson, put on testimony he knew to be misleading, and withheld important information from the defense. Immediately after Wickham's trial, Padovano was appointed to Florida's Second Judicial Circuit, where he became Chief Judge in 1993. Hankinson joined him on the bench of the Second Judicial Circuit, as did Padovano's wife, Judge Ferris. Padovano has served since 1996 on the First District Court of Appeals, where he hears appeals from the Second Judicial Circuit, including from the decisions of Judge Dekker. Judge Hankinson and Judge Ferris serve on the Second Judicial Circuit to this day.

A. The Circuit Court Judge Was Required To Determine The Credibility of Two Judicial Colleagues

1. Padovano's Credibility In Connection With Wickham's Competency

Although Judge Dekker's opinion depended in many unacknowledged respects on her unquestioning acceptance of Padovano's testimony, her implicit – but crucial – reliance on it was most obvious with respect to the issue that went to the core of Wickham's motion: whether he was competent to stand trial. A post-hearing evaluation of this issue should have included an analysis of two contrasting versions as to whether Padovano was aware of cognitive or other difficulties that impaired Wickham's ability to communicate:

In 1995, Padovano was interviewed by two attorneys then representing Wickham as they prepared to file his Rule 3.850 motion. Both took independent notes of the

interview; one of them (Ann Jacobs) testified at the 3.850 hearing. According to Jacobs's notes, Padovano in the interview said the following of Wickham's behavior during trial:

- "P said JW was totally unmanageable and that McClure's getting a personal waiver from JW was absurd: JW is barely functioning and the Judge is asking waiver questions." (PC-R 6826.)
- "JW was totally stressed at the time of trial." (PC-R 6826.)
- "[Wickham is] the kind of person who's marginally able to function to begin with, and the stress of the trial destroyed what little social ability he may have had to control himself." (PC-R 6826.)
- "[Wickham] was just like a little kid. He had the mentality of a little kid. He showed childish behavior. He would refuse to come out for trial, just like a kid would refuse to come out of his room." (PC-R 6826.)
- "There were times in the trial where P couldn't talk to JW." (PC-R 6826.)
- "JW decompensated a lot during trial. He wasn't someone who could help himself in his defense. He had almost 'zero' ability to help with his defense." (PC-R 6826.)

Ann Jacobs' observations are corroborated by the handwritten notes of attorney Bonny Forrest from the same meeting (PC-R 3798):

- "totally unmanageable. One thing judge McClure seemed to say that he was going to get a personal waiver—absurdity of it all—judge is asking him if he understands—very" [remainder cut off] (PC-R 6833.)
- "doesn't have ability to control his behavior" (PC-R 6839.)
- "coming out —> Jerry was stressed. Marginally able to function. Little social ability was gone" (PC-R 6837.)
- "he was -> unable to talk—he confided in me 'different' during the trial -> like a 'puppy'" (PC-R 6837.)
- "worse during the trial -> decompensated -> argue and the[n] apologize." (PC-R 6838.)

• "Jerry wasn't able to provide much help for defense" (PC-R 6841.)

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