IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY MICHAEL WICKHAM,

Appellant

v.

Case No. SC05-1012

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General Pl-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wickham raises a wide array of claims. Some are preserved. Some are not.

As a threshold matter, in ISSUE I, Wickham contests any circuit judge in the First District Court of Appeal handling his Postconviction Motion. He essentially advocates a per se rule in which a witness's position on a court would disqualify all other judges on that court and all judges on inferior courts. His argument is misplaced. While there needs to be a sensitivity to the "appearance of justice" and, of course, to whether there is prima facie showing of bias, Wickham places too little faith in the

ability of circuit judges to set aside their personal feelings and decide the issues on the law and the facts.

Having been afforded a multi-day evidentiary hearing on his postconviction motion, Wickham presents multiple issues in which he second-guesses the well-grounded decisions of his trial defense attorney as well as the postconviction trial court. He has failed to meet his burdens of demonstrating that his trial counsel was unreasonable, and he has failed to establish that the trial court's findings were not based upon competent and substantial evidence.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I:</u> WHETHER WICKHAM HAS DEMONSTRATED THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT DISQUALIFYING ALL CIRCUIT JUDGES OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT. (RESTATED)

ISSUE I argues that Judge Dekker, of the Second Judicial Circuit, should not have decided Wickham's March 31, 2003, Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence ("Postconviction Motion," PCR15 2740 et seq.). It argues (IB 13) that Phillip J. Padovano became Chief Judge in 1993, Hankinson and Padovano's wife subsequently joined Padovano on the bench of the Second Judicial Circuit, and in 1996, Padovano began serving on the First District Court of Appeals, where he "hears appeals from the Second Judicial Circuit, including from the decisions of Judge Dekker." ISSUE I then contends (IB 13) that Judge Dekker's "opinion depended upon her unquestioning acceptance of Padovano's testimony" and then tenders (IB 13-15) some interview notes that supposedly undermine accrediting Padovano's

testimony. ISSUE I then contends (IB 15-16) that Judge Dekker was put in the "untenable position of assessing the credibility of her circuit court colleague, Judge Hankinson." Next, ISSUE I argues (IB 16-17) that "Wickham's disqualification motions" were legally sufficient, entitling him to a "new evidentiary hearing."

A. ISSUE I was not preserved below.

Rather than "motions" (plural), the State has found one disqualification motion (singular): Wickham's Motion to Disqualify ... All Circuit Judges in and for the Second Judicial Circuit ("Disqualification Motion") filed May 22, 1995 (PCR8 1455-70). The Motion does not raise the same claims as ISSUE I, and, indeed, the Motion's claims became moot.

The 1995 Disqualification Motion argued that Judge McClure should be disqualified for various reasons (PCR8 1456-58), a matter not raised in ISSUE I. Also, Judge McClure retired from the bench (See PCR8 1570) and did not adjudicate Wickham's postconviction motion (See Judge Dekker's Huff Order at PCR17 3111-20 and Judge Dekker's Order based on evidentiary

Thus, Claim V of the 2003 amended postconviction motion mentions (PCR15 2780) only one motion to disqualify. This apparent contradiction illustrates a rationale for requiring an appellant, as a threshold matter, to specify where in the record on appeal each of appellate issue/claim was preserved, rather than the appellee attempting to locate arguable preservation and, as a result, asserting lack of preservation. The State respectfully submits that requiring an appellant to specify where in the record a claim was preserved or specify why it is fundamental error should be a gateway matter, the "ticket," without which there would be no appellate review of each claim.

hearing at PCR40 7723-63). The Disqualification Motion also contended that Wickham's trial defense counsel, Phillip J. Padovano, had risen to "Chief Judge, "thereby requiring the disqualification of all judges "sitting in the Second Judicial Circuit," (PCR8 1459-60, 1465) but, by the time of the evidentiary hearing, trial defense counsel Padovano was no longer in that position (PCR8 3293-94). Therefore, the Motions' claims based upon Judge McClure and Judge Padovano's circuit court positions became moot, and the Motion also failed to preserve ISSUE I's claims based upon Padovano assuming a First District Court of Appeal position and his wife and prosecutor Hankinson becoming circuit court judges. See, e.g., Harrell v. State, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005)(three components for "proper preservation"; "purpose of this rule is to 'place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings'"); White v. State, 753 So.2d 548, 549 (Fla. 1999) (argument regarding state Constitutional due process not raised to the trial court or to the district court of appeal during the direct appeal from conviction; "not preserved"); Gore v. State, 706 So.2d 1328, 1334 (Fla. 1997)(argument below was not the same as the one on appeal, not preserved); Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1989) ("constitutional argument grounded on due process and Chambers was not presented to the trial court ... procedurally bars appellant from presenting the argument on appeal").

B. The Disqualification Motion was untimely.

In addition to the Disqualification Motion alleging different grounds and its claims becoming moot, its allegations were untimely.

Rule 2.160(e), Fla.R.Jud.Admin., effective January 1, 1993, specified the 10-day limit on motions to disqualify a judge:

A motion to disqualify shall be made within a reasonable time not to exceed 10 days after discovery of the facts constituting the grounds for the motion

Fla. Bar Re Amendment to Fla. Rules of Judicial Admin., 609 So. 2d 465, 466, 491 (Fla. 1992). And, decades prior to Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2.160(e), Florida Statutes specified a 30-day window for moving to disqualify a judge; "otherwise, the ground, or grounds, of disqualification shall be taken and considered as waived," Ch. 16053, s. 3, Laws of Fla. (1933).

Here, the May 22, 1995, Motion to Disqualify was filed well-beyond the 10-day period provided in Rule 2.160/2.330, Fla.R.Jud.Admin., and well-beyond the 30-day window of Section 38.02, Fla. Stat. Therefore, the disqualification motion was properly denied summarily (PCR9 1681). See Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 481 n.3 (Fla. 1998)("we agree with the State that Judge Ferris' statement to the Fort Lauderdale Sun Sentinel five months before trial is forever waived as a ground for disqualification" due to its untimeliness); Mansfield v. State, 911 So.2d 1160 (Fla.

9

Fla.R.Jud.Admin.2.160(e) has been renumbered as 2.330, but it still requires that the motion be filed within "10 days after discovery of the facts constituting the grounds," <u>In re Amendments to the Fla. Rules of Judicial Administration—Reorganization of the Rules</u>, 939 So.2d 966, 1004 (Fla. 2006).

2005)(timeliness as a procedural bar; holding based upon alternative ground).

More specifically, concerning Phillip J. Padovano, he was sworn in as a circuit judge in January 1989 and first became chief judge in the Second Judicial Circuit in 1993 (PCR17 3294, 3296). At best for Wickham, his Disqualification Motion should have been filed within 30 days of when his conviction became final, which was when the United States Supreme Court denied his Petition for Writ of Certiorari on June 22, 1992, see Wickham v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1209 (1992), or within 10 days of the January 1, 1993, effective date of Rule 2.160, or within 10 days or 30 days of Padovano becoming chief judge in 1993. Instead, Wickham waited until 1995, which was YEARS too late. See Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 980(Fla. 2000)(motion to disqualify filed in post-conviction proceeding in the same month as the original 3.850 motion, untimely because the grounds upon which based were known by the defense at the time of the original trial).

Similarly, in addition to being moot, all of the allegations concerning Judge McClure were untimely. All of them were made in the 1995 Motion based upon comments that were made during the 1988 trial proceedings. At best for Wickham, he should have filed his Disqualification Motion within 30 days of June 22, 1992, when his conviction became final from the United States

Indeed, the disqualification motion should have been filed within 10 or 30 days of when this Court issued its mandate for the direct appeal of this case. See Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1991)(rehearing denied March 2, 1992).

Supreme Court's denial of certiorari, <u>see Wickham</u>, 505 U.S. 1209 (1992), or within 10 days of the January 1, 1993, effective date of Rule 2.160; he did not.

C. Other allegations purportedly in support of disqualification.

If Wickham argues that his March 31, 2003, Postconviction Motion (PCR15 2740 et seq.) preserved ISSUE I, he would be incorrect.

CLAIM V of Wickham's Postconviction "maintained" that "all circuit Judges in and for the Second Judicial Circuit be disqualified and an independent judge from outside of the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Circuits be appointed to the Court to hear his case." (PCR15 2780) Claim V argued (PCR15 2779-80) Mr. Padovano being "elevated to the First District Court of Appeal, on which he now sits," committees on which he sits, and being "considered as an expert on capital cases." Even CLAIM V did not discuss prosecutor Hankinson, rendering that appellate claim still unpreserved below.

Further, concerning Judge Padovano, CLAIM V was not the appropriate vehicle to seek the disqualification of a sitting judge. In order for these matters to be presented to the trial court, they should be presented through the appropriate vehicle, that is, Rule 2.160, renumbered as 2.330, Fla.R.Jud.Admin. Therefore, the assertions in Claim V did not preserve any

⁴ As discussed <u>infra</u> in ISSUE II, Judge Padovano's esteemed qualifications, **as a matter of law**, place a heavier burden on Wickham to establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

appellate claim pertaining to disqualification. <u>See Asay v. State</u>, 769 So.2d 974, 981 (Fla. 2000)("As for the incidents occurring during the postconviction proceeding that Asay points to as establishing an additional basis for recusal, these grounds were not raised by Asay in the trial court in a renewed motion for recusal, so they are not properly before this Court").

In any event, like the 1995 Disqualification Motion, the grounds alleged in Claim V were untimely. As the Initial Brief indicates (p. 13), Padovano became a First DCA judge in 1996, **SEVEN YEARS** prior to the 2003 postconviction motion.

Further, in contrast with the Motion to Disqualify ... (PCR8 1467), neither Claim V nor the postconviction motion containing it included a requisite certificate of good faith, per Rule 2.160/2.330. See Fondura v. State, 940 So.2d 489, 491 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2006)("The motion was also procedurally deficient. The initial written motion did not include the requisite certificate of good faith signed by Fondura's counsel pursuant to Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.160(c). Counsel also orally presented the second motion to disqualify, and this is legally insufficient and contrary [to] the requirements set forth in Florida Rules of Judicial Administration 2.160(c)(1)"). See also Fla. Bar Re Amendment to Fla. Rules of Judicial Admin., 609 So.2d 1t 490-91.

D. Wickham's appellate claims are facially insufficient.

Assuming that Wickham's disqualification claims survive the foregoing

arguments, ISSUE I still fails to demonstrate reversible error when viewed de novo on appeal. See Mansfield v. State, 911 So.2d 1160, 1170 (Fla. 2005). Since Judge Padovano will not be asked to review his own decisions here and since there have been no facts alleged that show a specific wellfounded bias within this case, disqualification was not mandated here. The trial court's postconviction evidentiary-hearing findings (PCR40 7723 et seq.) adverse to the merits of Wickham's postconviction motion (See IB 13-15) are insufficient to require disqualification. Analogously, it is wellsettled that prior adverse rulings of a judge are insufficient to mandate disqualification. See, e.g., Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 480-81 (Fla. 1998). Instead, it is a judge's duty to resolve the cases properly before him or her. See In re Drexel Burnham Lambert Inc., 861 F.2d 1307, 1312 (2d Cir.1988) ("A judge is as much obliged not to recuse himself when it is not called for as he is obliged to when it is"); Hinman v. Rogers, 831 F.2d 937, 939 (10th Cir.1987) ("There is as much obligation for a judge not to recuse when there is no occasion for him to do so as there is for him to do

_

The movant's burden is higher for a motion to disqualify when a prior motion was granted. See Card v. State, 803 So.2d 613, 619-20 (Fla. 2001)(in an initial motion, judge passes only on the legal sufficiency of the allegations and not on the truth of the facts, whereas, a successor judge may pass on the truth of the facts alleged in support of the motion and need only be disqualified if "he or she is in fact not fair or impartial" citing Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.160(f)). Here, the record is unclear whether a would disqualification of Judge Dekker constitute the disqualification caused by a Wickham motion. Judge McClure was the trial judge, and Judge Lewis Hall (See PCR8 1566-73) and Judge Francis (See PCR9 1681, PCR9 1692 et seq., PCR13 2549) handled the postconviction proceedings prior to Judge Dekker. (At one point, Judge Ferris recused herself upon her own motion. PCR8 1500)

so when there is").

ISSUE I argues (IB 13) that Padovano became a Circuit Judge and a Chief Judge in the circuit in 1993. However, there is not even a bare allegation that Judge Padovano's tenure on the Circuit bench or as Chief Judge in any way overlapped Judge Dekker, who adjudicated his Postconviction Motion. Taking the merits of ISSUE I in their best light for Wickham, arguendo if those merits are reached, it distills to contentions that Judge Dekker should not have presided over the Postconviction Motion because of Judge Padovano's position on the DCA, because of Judge Padovano's wife's position as a circuit judge on the Second Judicial Circuit, and because of Circuit Judge Hankinson's status as a witness in the postconviction evidentiary hearing. None of these claims merit reversal for a new evidentiary hearing in front of a judge who is outside of the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Circuits.

ISSUE I, as well as CLAIM V, failed to posit anything specific whatsoever concerning any relationship, other than job titles, among Judge Dekker, Judge Padovano, Judge Ferris, and Judge Hankinson. Essentially, granting relief on ISSUE I would establish a per se rule of disqualification in which a witness in a position as a circuit judge in the circuit or on the DCA for that circuit mandates disqualification of all circuit judges of that circuit and all circuit judges within the DCA's jurisdiction, respectively. Yet, Wickham fails to cite a single authoritative case for such an extreme position. As such, Wickham's ISSUE I fails to overcome the presumption that the trial judges of this state will

comply with the law, <u>Dragovich v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 350, 353 (Fla. 1986). Put more specifically, Wickham's accusations and attendant citations to adverse rulings are not

well-founded and contain[ing] facts germane to the judge's undue bias, prejudice, or sympathy. See Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610, 611 (Fla. 1991); Dragovich v. State, 492 So.2d 350, 352 (Fla. 1986). The fact that a judge has previously made adverse rulings is not an adequate ground for recusal. Gilliam, 582 So.2d at 611; Suarez v. State, 95 Fla. 42, 115 So. 519 (1928). Nor is the mere fact that a judge has previously heard the evidence a legally sufficient basis for recusal. Dragovich, 492 So.2d at 352.

<u>Mansfield v. State</u>, 911 So.2d 1160, 1171 (Fla. 2005), <u>quoting Jackson v.</u> State, 599 So.2d 103, 107 (Fla. 1992).

Ervin v. Collins, 85 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1956), upheld the denial of disqualification. There, the Governor was a party to the law suit. There, it was claimed that the Governor and a justice of the Florida Supreme Court "and their families are close, intimate, and personal friends, and have been for many years." The claim also alleged that two additional justices were appointed by the Governor. These friendships and appointments were insufficient to require disqualification. Here, a witness simply sitting in

In re Estate of Carlton, 378 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 1979) "receded" from Ervin's discussion of legal insufficiency but also held, consistent with the non-recusal here, that

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